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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

RETRO~HIN, INC., a Delaware ~Y\, U1S4 ~O 02 6 -rr LS fJp \ 
CorporatIOn, J1 I""'~ .L"""'1J U ~I" "1 

COMPLAINT FOR: 
Plaintiff, 

vs. 

QUESTCOR PHARMACEUTICALS, 
INC., a California Corporation, 

Defendant. 
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1. RESTRAINT OF TRADE IN 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 1 OF 
THE SHERMAN ACT 
(15 U.S.C. § 1 ET SEQ.) 

2. MONOPOLIZATION iN 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 2 OF 
THE SHERMAN ACT 
(15 U.S.C. § 2 ET SEQ.) 

3. ATTEMPTED 
MONOPOLIZATION IN 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 2 OF 
THE SHERMAN ACT 
(15 U.S.C. § 2 ET SEQ.) 

4. tJNLA WFDL MERGER IN 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 7 OF 
THE CLAYTON ACT 
(15 U.S.C. § 18 ET SEQ.) 

5. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA 
ANTITRUST LAWS 

6. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA 
UNFAIR COMPETITION LAWS 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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1 PlaintiffRetrophin, Inc. ("Retrophin"), as and for its complaint against 

2 Defendant Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Questcor"), alleges as follows: 

3 

4 l. 

Nature of the Action 

Questcor is a monopolist. It is the sole provider in the US of approved 

5 therapeutic preparations of adrenocorticotropic hormone ("ACTH"), a drug used to 

6 treat certain life threatening and often fatal diseases. Questcor's ACTH drug is sold 

7 under the brand name H.P. Acthar Gel ("Acthar"). The drug is not patented. 

8 2. Questcor acquired the rights to Acthar in 2001. At the time, Acthar sold 

9 for $50 a vial or less. Since then, Questcor has raised the price to $28,000 - a 

10 56,000% price increase. 

11 3. Questcor is able to charge such an extortionate price for Acthar because it 

12 holds a monopoly in the US. Its monopoly exists for several reasons. First, Acthar is 
'" -
j gJ 13 the only long acting ACTH therapeutic drug approved by the Food and Drug 

~ tf ~~ 

I ng, 
; ~<l~ 14 Administration ("FDA") for use in the US. Second, Acthar is the most effective and +II -,,8 
+I ~w.: 
~ Ii] 115 dominant first line treatment for Infantile Spasms, an often fatal disorder that causes 

16 epileptic type seizures in babies, toddlers and children under the age of 5. In addition, 

17 Questcor has obtained "Orphan Drug Designation" for Acthar from the FDA under the 

18 Orphan Drug Act, 21 USC §§301 et seq., giving it the exclusive right to market 

19 Acthar - and its chemical equivalent - for use in treating Infantile Spasms. Third, 

20 Acthar is also the most commonly used treatment of last resort for patients suffering 

21 from Nephrotic Syndrome, a condition that results in excessive protein being secreted 

22 through the urine that destroys the kidneys and can lead to kidney failure. Treatments 

23 of last resort, as the term implies, are used for patients who do not respond to or 

24 cannot tolerate other therapies used to treat their illness. 

25 4. In June of2013, plaintiff Retrophin was poised to challenge Questcor's 

26 monopoly. It had negotiated an agreement to purchase from Novartis AG 

27 ("Novartis"), the rights to sell in the US a product called Synacthen, an ACTH drug 

28 that contains the same sequence of the first 24 amino acids that is found in Acthar. 
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While there are differences between Acthar and Synacthen - the two are not 

chemically identical beyond the first 24 amino acids and they are produced differently 

- Synacthen has been sold for years outside of the US for the treatment of Infantile 

Spasms, Nephrotic Syndrome, Multiple Sclerosis and other diseases. On information 

and belief, it is not currently sold in the US because it has never been submitted to the 

FDA for approval. 

5. Retrophin planned to obtain FDA approval to sell Synacthen in the US 

and compete head to head against Questor by dramatically undercutting Questcor's 

price for Acthar. It had negotiated and was ready to sign an agreement to purchase the 

US rights to Synacthen from Novartis. The signing was scheduled for June 11, 2013. 

The signing of the agreement was so imminent that a press release had been prepared 

to announce the deal. 

6. On June 11,2013, the day Retrophin was to sign its agreement with 

Novartis, Questcor swept in and acquired the rights to Synacthen. In so doing, it 

preserved and entrenched its ACTH monopoly in the US and eliminated the 

competitive threat posed by Retrophin's acquisition of Synacthen. There was no 

procompetitive aspect of Questcor' s acquisition of Synacthen. 

7. When it acquired the rights to Acthar, Questcor did not make a 

Premerger Notification Filing with the Department of Justice and the Federal Trade 

Commission under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, 15 

USC, § 18a et seq. 

8. Questcor was quite aware, however, that its agreement with Novartis 

raised serious antitrust questions. The agreement provides that, if Questcor is forced 

to divest its rights to Synacthen on antitrust grounds, Novartis will keep the entire $60 

million that Questcor had paid it. In addition, Questcor remains obligated to make all 

future milestone payments owed to Novartis under that agreement - an amount in 

excess of $75 million. Questcor has accepted the entire economic risk - an amount in 

2 
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1 excess of $135 million - that the agreement with Novartis would be deemed illegal 

2 under the antitrust laws. 

3 9. Questcor's acquisition of Synacthen has delayed, and may completely 

4 foreclose, Retrophin's entry into the markets defined below. It will delay, and may 

5 completely prevent, Retrophin from competing against Questcor. Retrophin brings 

6 this lawsuit to recover the damages it has incurred as a result of Questcor' s 

7 anticompetitive and monopolistic conduct. It also seeks injunctive relief against 

8 Questcor's continuation of such conduct. 

9 The Parties 

10 10. Piaint1ffRetrophin is organized and exists under the laws of Delaware. 

11 Its principal place of business is located at 777 Third Avenue, 22nd Floor, New York, 

12 New York 10017. It also does business in California and Massachusetts. 

11. Retrophin is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development, 

acquisition and commercialization of drugs for the treatment of serious, catastrophic 

or rare diseases for which there are currently no viable options for patients. The 

16 diseases on which Retrophin focuses are often considered "orphan" diseases because 

17 they affect fewer than 200,000 patients in the United States. Retrophin has acquired 

18 and is building a pipeline of innovative product candidates for several catastrophic 

19 diseases, including: Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis, a kidney disease; 

20 Pantothenate Kinase-Associated Neurodgeneration; and Duchenne Muscular 

21 Dystrophy. 

22 12. Defendant Questcor is a corporation organized and existing under the 

23 laws of the State of California. It maintains its principal place of business in 

24 Anaheim, California. 

25 Jurisdiction and Venue 

26 13. Retrophin brings this action under Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 

27 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26, to recover treble damages and costs of suit, including 

28 reasonable attorneys' fees, and for injunctive relief, for injuries suffered by Retrophin 
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alleged herein and arising from Questcor's continuing violations of Section 1 of the 

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2, and Section 

7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18. Jurisdiction for this action is invoked under 

Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26, and 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337(a). 

14. Additionally, this Court has diversity jurisdiction over this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) because the controversy exceeds the sum or value of 

$75,000 and Retrophin and Questcor are citizens of different states. This Court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over Retrophin's state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1367(a). 

15. Venue in this Court exists by virtue of Sections 4 and 12 of the Clayton 

Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 22, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c). Defendant 

Questcor is found, has agents, transacts and is doing business in this District, and the 

unlawful activities complained of herein were carried on, in substantial part, within 

this District. 

16. Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in this Court because it 

resides in this District and transacts business in this District. 

Trade and Commerce 

17. The pharmaceutical products at issue in this case are sold in Interstate 

Commerce, and the unlawful activities alleged in this Complaint have occurred in, and 

have had and will have, a substantial effect upon, Interstate Commerce. 

The Relevant Markets 

18. There are a number of separate relevant product markets at issue in this 

case. They include: (a) the market for ACTH therapeutic drugs (the "ACTH 

Therapeutic Drug Market"); (b) the market for first-line drug treatments for Infantile 

Spasms (the "Infantile Spasms Market"); and (c) the market for treatments of last 

resort for Nephrotic Syndrome for those patients who do not respond to or cannot 

tolerate primary and secondary treatments for that disease (the "Nephrotic Syndrome 

4 
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Market"). The relevant geographic markets for each of these three relevant product 

markets is the United States, since drugs available in any of these markets are subject 

to FDA regulation. The ACTH Therapeutic Drug, Infantile Spasms, and Nephrotic 

Syndrome Markets are collectively referred to as the "Relevant Markets." 

The ACTH Therapeutic Drug Market 

19. ACTH is a drug used to treat certain life threatening and often fatal 

diseases, including Infantile Spasms and Nephrotic Syndrome. It is a polypeptide 

tropic hormone produced and secreted by the anterior pituitary gland. In the human 

body, ACTH activates the Melanocortin System and is referred to as a "Melanocortin 

agonist." The Melanocortin System affects a wide array of bodily functions ranging 

from skin pigmentation, inflammation, energy homeostasis and sexual function. As a 

consequence, ACTH can be used as a therapy for a variety of illnesses resulting from 

improper functioning of the Melanocortin System, including Infantile Spasms and 

Nephrotic Syndrome. There is no reasonable interchangeability between drug 

therapies used to treat other diseases and ACTH drug therapies used to stimulate the 

Melanocortin System. 

20. Acthar is an ACTH. It is the only FDA approved long-acting ACTH 

available in the US. It is also the only FDA approved long-acting melanocortin 

agonist available in the US. 

21. ACTH products have been approved for use as diagnostic agents which 

are used to test for the presence of certain conditions or diseases. However, those 

products are short acting and are not used as therapies in treating illnesses. 

22. Consumers faced with a small but significant non-transitory increase in 

the price of ACTH therapeutic drugs, cannot and will not shift to other classes of 

drugs such that the increase in price will be rendered unprofitable. This is evidenced 

by the fact that Questcor, the only supplier of ACTH for therapeutic purposes in the 

US, has raised the price of a vial of Acthar to $28,000 and is able to maintain that 

pnce. 
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23. FDA regulation and the difficulty of developing and manufacturing 

ACTH based therapeutic drugs reduce or eliminate any "supply elasticity" whereby 

manufacturers of other drug therapies convert their existing manufacturing facilities to 

the manufacture of ACTH therapeutic drugs. 

24. The relevant geographic market for ACTH therapeutic drugs is national 

because therapeutic ACTH drugs cannot be sold in the US without FDA approval. 

The Infantile Spasms Market 

25. Babies and little children suffering from Infantile Spasms must have 

treatments that cure that affliction. Without it they suffer from epileptic type seizures 

and other symptoms of the disease. If untreated, they may suffer permanent brain or 

neurological damage and may develop other seizure disorders. The disease can be 

fatal. Only therapies that treat Infantile Spasm Syndrome can meet the medical needs 

of these patients. Therapies for other diseases do not cure or control Infantile Spasms 

and are not substitutes for Infantile Spasm therapeutics. There is no reasonable 

interchangeability between drug therapies used to treat other diseases and drug 

therapies used to treat children with Infantile Spasms. 

26. Consumers faced with a small but significant non-transitory increase in 

the price of therapeutic drugs to treat Infantile Spasms, cannot and will not shift to 

other drug treatments for Infantile Spasms such that the increase in price will be 

rendered unprofitable. This is evidenced by the fact that Questcor has raised the price 

of a vial of Acthar to $28,000 and is able to maintain that price. 

27. There are also regulatory entry barriers that limit the Relevant Market to 

first line therapies for Infantile Spasms. In 2010, Questcor obtained from the FDA, 

"Orphan Drug designation" for Acthar for Infantile Spasms under the Orphan Drug 

Act. Despite the fact that Acthar is not patented, the Orphan Drug designation gives 

Questcor a seven year exclusive right to sell Acthar, and its chemical equivalent, for 

Infantile Spasms with immunity from generic competition. Questcor's exclusive 

marketing right extends to 2017. Therapies that are excluded by Acthar's Orphans 
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Drug Designation (generic versions of Acthar) cannot be labeled or marketed for the 

treatment of Infantile Spasms. 

28. FDA regulation and the difficulty of developing and manufacturing 

treatments for Infantile Spasms preclude any "supply elasticity" whereby 

manufacturers of other drug therapies convert their manufacturing facilities to the 

manufacture of Infantile Spasm therapies. 

29. The relevant geographic market for first line Infantile Spasm drug 

therapies is national because therapeutic drugs cannot be marketed in the US for 

Infantile Spasms without FDA approval. 

The Nephrotic Syndrome Market 

30. Nephrotic Syndrome is a condition in which excessive amounts of 

protein pass through the kidneys and are secreted through the urine. This results in 

kidney damage and can lead to kidney failure. Nephrotic Syndrome is treated on a 

first and second line basis with corticosteroids, such as Prednisone, or 

immunosuppressant drugs. In some patients the disease does not respond to these 

treatments and in others the patient cannot tolerate the drugs' side effects. In such 

cases, ACTH (Acthar) is the primary and dominant treatment of last resort. Only 

therapies that treat Nephrotic Syndrome effectively can meet the medical needs of 

Nephrotic Syndrome patients who do not respond to or cannot tolerate traditional first 

and second line therapies for that illness. Therapies for other diseases do not cure or 

control Nephrotic Syndrome and are not substitutes for last resort treatments for 

Nephrotic Syndrome. There is no reasonable interchangeability between drug 

therapies used to treat other diseases and drug therapies used to treat victims of 

Nephrotic Syndrome. 

31. Consumers faced with a small but significant non-transitory increase in 

the price of last resort therapeutic drugs to treat Nephrotic Syndrome cannot and will 

not shift to other drug treatments such that the increase in price will be rendered 
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1 unprofitable. This is evidenced by the fact that Questcor has raised the price of a vial 

2 of Acthar to $28,000 and is able to maintain that price. 

3 32. There are also regulatory entry barriers that limit the Relevant Market to 

4 therapies of last resort for Nephrotic Syndrome. Therapies for other conditions cannot 

5 be marketed for the treatment of Nephrotic Syndrome without FDA approval. In 

6 addition, it is particularly difficult for the maker of a generic drug to obtain FDA 

7 approval when it is trying to prove that its synthetically manufactured product, which 

8 is manufactured in a laboratory setting, is the biopharmaceutical equivalent of a drug 

9 such as Acthar which is produced from animals. 

10 33. FDA regulation and the difficulty of developing and manufacturing 

11 treatments for Nephrotic Syndrome preclude any "supply elasticity" whereby 

12 manufacturers of other drug therapies convert their manufacturing facilities to the 
'" -
j 6) 13 manufacture of Nephrotic Syndrome therapies. 

~ \i ~~ 

i I U a 14 34. The relevant geographic market for therapies of last resort for Nephrotic 

~ III 15 Syndrome is national because such therapies cannot be marketed in the US for 

16 Nephrotic Syndrome without FDA approval. 

17 Questcor Has Market and Monopoly Power in the Relevant Markets 

18 35. There are no meaningful substitutes for Acthar or ACTH in the Relevant 

19 Markets. Nor are manufacturers of other pharmaceutical products able to shift their 

20 production to the manufacture of Acthar or other ACTH products. Even if they were 

21 able to do so, they could not sell those products without first obtaining FDA approval. 

22 Questcor has market and monopoly power in all of the Relevant Markets. 

23 36. Questcor's monopoly power in all three of the Relevant Markets is 

24 further evidenced by a single price increase that it imposed in 2007. In that year, 

25 Questcor raised the price of Acthar from $1,650 per vial to $23,000 per vial, an 

26 overnight increase of over 1,300%. Questcor's ability to make that price increase 

27 "stick" is conclusive evidence of its market and monopoly power. 

28 
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The ACTH Therapeutic Drug Market 

37. In the ACTH Therapeutic Drug Market, Acthar is the only FDA 

approved long acting ACTH therapeutic drug available to consumers in the United 

States. 

38. Questcor's market and monopoly power in the ACTH Therapeutic Drug 

Market is further protected by the fact that other chemical variations of ACTH for use 

as therapeutic drugs require FDA approval for sale in the United States. 

39. Questcor effectively has 100% of the market for ACTH Therapeutic 

Drugs. It has market and monopoly power in that market which is dramatically 

demonstrated by its continued ability to charge $28,000 for a vial of Acthar. 

The Infantile Spasms Market 

40. In the Infantile Spasms Market, Acthar is considered the "gold standard" 

of treatment. 

41. Questcor's market and monopoly power in the Infantile Spasms Market 

is protected by the Orphan Drug Designation that protects Questcor from generic 

competition to Acthar. Its monopoly position is further protected by the fact that 

alternative therapies, that would not be precluded by the Orphan Designation, require 

FDA approval if they are to be marketed as therapies for Infantile Spasms. 

42. Questcor admits that it has more than 50% share of the Infantile Spasms 

Market and its actual market share may be far greater. Questcor's market and 

monopoly power in the Infantile Spasms Market is demonstrated dramatically by its 

continued ability to charge $28,000 for a vial of Acthar. 

The Nephrotic Syndrome Market 

43. In the Nephrotic Syndrome Market, Acthar is the primary and dominant 

treatment of last resort for Nephrotic Syndrome patients who do not respond to or 

cannot tolerate first or second line treatments for that disease. 
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44. Questcor's market and monopoly power in the Nephrotic Syndrome 

Market is further protected by the fact that alternative drug therapies require FDA 

approval if they are to be marketed as therapies for Nephrotic Syndrome. 

45. Questcor's market and monopoly power in the Nephrotic Syndrome 

Market is demonstrated dramatically by its continued ability to charge $28,000 for a 

vial of Acthar. 

Retrophin's Acquisition of Synacthen Threatened Questcor's Monopoly 

46. Synacthen is an ACTH derivative that has been sold for years outside of 

the US and has been used successfully to treat patients with Infantile Spasms and 

Nephrotic Syndrome in other countries. It has not been commercially developed in 

the US and it has not been submitted to the FDA for approval for therapeutic use. 

47. Synacthen is similar, but not chemically identical, to Acthar. Both drugs 

share the identical sequence of the first 24 amino acids in their respective molecules. 

This sequence of amino acids gives both drugs their therapeutic properties. Acthar, 

however, has a longer amino acid chain. The two drugs are also produced in very 

different ways. Acthar is "porcine derived." It is extracted from the pituitary gland 

found in the brains of slaughtered pigs. Synacthen, by contrast, is synthetically 

manufactured in a laboratory setting. These differences give Synacthen three 

competitive advantages over Acthar. First, Synacthen is less expensive to 

manufacture. Second, because it is manufactured in a controlled setting, the product is 

less susceptible to variation. Third, consumers are more comfortable knowing that the 

drugs they are taking - or giving to their infants - are produced in a sterile 

environment rather than being derived from slaughtered animals. 

48. Retrophin planned to purchase the rights to Synacthen, obtain FDA 

approval for its use as a therapeutic, and enter the Relevant Markets in competition 

with Questcor. Retrophin planned to price Synacthen at a fraction of the price 

charged by Questcor and use its competitive pricing and Synacthen's other 

competitive advantages to take substantial market share from Acthar. 

10 
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1 49. In the late summer of2012, Retrophin entered negotiations with Novartis 

2 to purchase the rights to manufacture and sell Synacthen in the US. After 

3 approximately nine months of due diligence and negotiations, Retrophin and Novartis 

4 agreed to terms on which Retrophin would acquire the rights to Synacthen. Final 

5 documents had been prepared and were merely awaiting the parties' signatures. The 

6 signing was set for June 11,2013. Retrophin had prepared a press release announcing 

7 the deal. 

8 50. In anticipation of the transaction, Retrophin had prepared a plan to obtain 

9 regulatory approvals for, and sell Synacthen. It devised a strategy for going directly to 

10 Phase III clinical drug trials in order to obtain FDA approval for the use of Synacthen 

11 

12 

16 

to treat Infantile Spasms and Nephrotic Syndrome. It also planned to file a Treatment 

Investigational New Drug Application which, if approved by the FDA, would have 

allowed Retrophin to offer Synacthen to patients for free while it was awaiting FDA 

approval to market Synacthen for Infantile Spasms and Nephrotic Syndrome. This 

would have given patients immediate relief from Questcor's pricing and would have 

developed substantial goodwill for Retrophin and Synacthen in both the patient and 

17 medical communities. Retrophin believed that the history of Synacthen's use in other 

18 countries would aid it in obtaining FDA approval. 

19 51. In anticipation of the product launch, Retrophin had put in place a 

20 clinical apparatus to conduct clinical trials necessary to obtain FDA approval. It 

21 planned to begin to market Synacthen upon FDA approval. 

22 52. Given its expertise as a biopharmaceutical company focusing on rare 

23 diseases, Retrophin was ready, willing and able to enter the Relevant Markets with 

24 Synacthen subject to FDA approval. Retrophin's entry into the Relevant Markets 

25 would have broken Questcor's monopoly. The result would have been 

26 unambiguously procompetitive. Retrophin's entry into the market and its introduction 

27 of Synacthen as an alternative to Acthar would have benefitted all participants in the 

28 markets - other than Questcor. Prices to patients and payors would have dropped; 

11 
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patients who were unable to pay for the drug would have been able to get it; other 

patients who were forced by Questcor's pricing to limit their dosages of the drug 

would have been able to take the medically prescribed amounts; and Retrophin would 

have earned substantial profits from sales of its product. 

Questcor Illegally Acquires Synacthen to Preserve its Monopoly 

53. Faced with a direct threat to its monopoly, Questcor acted to preserve its 

market dominance and its ability to charge extraordinary prices for Acthar. It swept in 

and secretly negotiated a deal to buy the rights to Synacthen from Novartis. 

54. On June 11,2013, the very day that Retrophin and Novartis were to sign 

their agreement, Questcor acquired the rights to Synacthen. The acquisition was 

closed on the day of the announcement. Questcor made no Premerger Notification 

filing with the Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission under the 

Hart Scott Rodino Act Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976. Nor did it observe the 

waiting period provided by the Hart Scott Act before closing the acquisition. 

55. As part of the Agreement, the entire risk of an antitrust challenge to the 

transaction is borne by Questcor. The Agreement between Novartis and Questcor 

provides that Novartis receives the full consideration it is entitled to from Questcor 

even if the US antitrust enforcement agencies (The Federal Trade Commission or the 

Department of Justice) force Questcor to divest its rights in Synacthen. If such a 

divestiture occurs, the Agreement provides that Novartis keeps the entire $60 million 

that Questcor has paid it and Questcor will make all future milestone payments 

required by the Agreement - an amount in excess of $75 million. In short, the 

acquisition of the rights to Synacthen was so important to Questcor that it put at least 

$135 million at risk to keep Synacthen out of Retrophin's hands. There was no 

procompetitive aspect of Questcor's acquisition ofSynacthen. 

56. Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen unreasonably restrained 

trade, maintained Questcor's monopolies and may result in a substantial lessening of 

competition in the Relevant Markets. As a result of Questcor's acquisition of the 

12 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
.:! 

6 J 13 
~ 

I"~ 

cJ Ii 
i.nd4 

~t .8 
.!! .. 
8\," 

~I H15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 I 
21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

o 
rights to Synacthen, prices to patients and payors for Acthar will remain at monopoly 

levels; patients who are unable to pay for the drug will not be been able to get it; 

other patients who are forced by Questcor's pricing to limit their dosages of the drug 

will not be able to take the medically prescribed amounts; and Retrophin will not earn 

the substantial profits it expected to earn from selling Synacthen at a fraction of the 

price Questcor charges for Acthar. 

Retrophin Is Continuing to Try to Enter the Relevant Markets 

57. Despite Questcor's anti competitive and monopolistic conduct, Retrophin 

is continuing to try to enter the Relevant Product Markets. To that end, it has taken 

the highly unusual step of trying to create from scratch a drug - that it has designated 

as RE-034 - that will match Synacthen. Retrophin is endeavoring to create a new 

formulation of the drug that will incorporate the same active pharmaceutical 

ingredient used in Synacthen and match Synacthen's therapeutic effects for patients 

suffering from Infantile Spasms and Nephrotic Syndrome. 

58. Retrophin's efforts to develop RE-034 will take substantial time and 

money and will require FDA approval. It will also require that the drug successfully 

complete both Phase I and Phase III clinical trials for both Infantile Spasms and 

Nephrotic Syndrome. There is no guarantee that RE-034 will succeed in the clinical 

trials or that Retrophin will succeed in obtaining FDA approval or entering the 

Relevant Markets. 

59. Entering the Relevant Markets through RE-034 is more difficult, risky 

and time consuming than entering those markets through Synacthen. Synacthen is an 

existing product that has been manufactured and used outside of the US for decades in 

the treatment of a variety of illnesses, including Infantile Spasms and Nephrotic 

Syndrome. The owner of the rights to Synacthen has the information, know-how and 

ability to manufacture the drug and has decades of clinical data from outside the 

United States that can be used to facilitate and speed the regulatory approval process 

13 



t 

~ 

CJ 
~t 
~I 

, 
1 
I 
1 
1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
8 
'Il 
:~ f'I 13 .;: 5 
-I" 

~l 
,liq 14 
~u. 8 
~.; ..,. 

~~; 15 ",« ~ 
S " 0 
N ..9 r;. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

o 
in the US. Retrophin will need to develop all of that knowledge from scratch in 

seeking to enter the Relevant Markets with RE-034. 

60. Entering the Relevant Markets through RE-034 will be more difficult, 

less likely to succeed and take longer than entry into those markets through the 

acquisition of Synacthen. Questcor's conduct has delayed, and may entirely foreclose, 

Retrophin from entering the Relevant Markets. 

Questcor Has Damaged Competition in the Relevant Markets and Has Caused 

Retrophin to Suffer Both Injury in Fact and Antitrust Injury 

61. Questcor's unlawful acquisition of the rights to Synacthen has foreclosed 

or delayed Retrophin from entering the Relevant Markets, has restrained trade, and 

has preserved and entrenched Questcor's monopoly and may substantially lessen 

competition. As a result, competition in the Relevant Markets has been damaged and 

Retrophin has been injured. Those injuries are intertwined and inseparable. 

Excluding or delaying Retrophin from entering the Relevant Markets with Synacthen 

was and is an integral aspect of Questcor' s anti competitive conduct. 

62. Retrophin has suffered and continues to suffer injury in fact from 

Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen and the preservation of its monopoly. 

63. Retrophin has suffered and continues to suffer antitrust injury from 

Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen and the preservation of its monopoly. 

Retrophin has been injured directly as a result of Questcor' s unlawful conduct. 

Retrophin is a potential entrant into the Relevant Markets and, but for Questcor's 

unlawful conduct, would be entering those markets with Synacthen. There are no 

aspects of Questcor's conduct that are beneficial to competition. Retrophin's injury is 

an integral aspect of Questcor' s unlawful conduct; flows from that which renders 

Questcor's conduct unlawful; and its injury is of the type the antitrust laws were 

intended to prevent. 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(COMBINATION IN THE RESTRAINT OF TRADE IN VIOLATION OF 

SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT) 

64. Retrophin repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 63 as if fully set forth herein. 

65. In acquiring the rights to Synacthen, Questcor entered into a contract, 

conspiracy or combination that unreasonably restrains trade in violation of Section 1 

of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. 

66. Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen unlawfully and 

unreasonably restrains trade by preventing or delaying Retrophin from entering the 

Relevant Markets and challenging Questcor's market power in those markets. 

67. Questcor's violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act has caused, and 

will cause, damages to Retrophin in an amount to be determined at trial, such damages 

to be trebled in accordance with Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 

68. Questcor's unlawful conduct is ongoing, irreparably injures Retrophin, 

harms the public interest, and unless restrained will continue. Retrophin has no 

adequate remedy at law. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(MONOPOLIZATION IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 2 OF THE SHERMAN 

ACT) 

69. Retrophin repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 68 as if fully set forth herein. 

70. Questcor has monopoly power in the Relevant Markets. In acquiring the 

rights to Synacthen in the US, Questcor has intentionally acted to maintain and 

entrench its monopoly position in Relevant Markets, and has done so, in violation of 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. 
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71. Questcor's violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act has caused, and 

will cause, damages to Retrophin in an amount to be determined at trial, such damages 

to be trebled in accordance with Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 

72. Questcor's unlawful conduct is ongoing, irreparably injures Retrophin, 

harms the public interest, and unless restrained will continue. Retrophin has no 

adequate remedy at law. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 2 OF 

THE SHERMAN ACT) 

73. Retrophin repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 72 as if fully set forth herein. 

74. In acquiring the rights to Synacthen, Questcor has engaged in 

monopolistic and anticompetitive conduct with the specific purpose and intent of 

monopolizing the Relevant Markets in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 2. 

75. The sole purpose of Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen is 

to enable Questcor to gain or maintain a monopoly position in the Relevant Markets. 

76. A dangerous probability exists that Questcor has succeeded, and if not 

restrained, will continue to succeed in monopolizing the Relevant Markets. 

77. Questcor's acts of attempted monopolization has unlawfully prevented 

and delayed Retrophin from entering the Relevant Markets and otherwise injure 

competition in those markets by reducing choice, inflating prices, and lessening 

innovation. 

78. Questcor's violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act has caused, and 

will cause, damages to Retrophin in an amount to be determined at trial, such damages 

to be trebled in accordance with Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 
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79. Questcor's unlawful conduct is ongoing, irreparably injures Retrophin, 

harms the public interest, and unless restrained will continue. Retrophin has no 

adequate remedy at law. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(UNLAWFUL MERGER IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 7 OF THE 

CLAYTON ACT) 

80. Retrophin repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 79 as if fully set forth herein. 

81. Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen is likely to substantially 

lessen competition in interstate trade and commerce in violation of Section 7 of the 

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18. 

82. Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen is likely to result in a 

substantial lessening of competition in the Relevant Markets. 

83. Questcor's violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act has caused, and will 

cause, damages to Retrophin in an amount to be determined at trial, such damages to 

be trebled in accordance with Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 

84. Questcor's unlawful conduct is ongoing, irreparably injures Retrophin, 

harms the public interest, and unless restrained will continue. Retrophin has no 

adequate remedy at law. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA ANTITRUST LAWS) 

85. Retrophin repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 84 as if fully set forth herein. 

86. In acquiring the rights to Synacthen, Questcor entered into and engaged 

in a continuing unlawful trust in restraint of the trade and commerce described above 

in violation of the California antitrust laws referenced below. Questcor has acted in 

violation of these laws in an effort to maintain, entrench, and/or create a monopoly, 
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and otherwise injure competition in the Relevant Markets. Questcor's conduct 

substantially affected commerce in California. 

87. In acquiring the rights to Synacthen in the US, Questcor has maintained 

and entrenched its monopoly position in the Relevant Markets. 

88. Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen is likely to result in a 

substantial lessening of competition in the Relevant Markets. 

89. By reason of the foregoing, Questcor violated California's Cartwright 

Act, California Business and Professions Code §§ 16720 et seq. 

90. Questcor's violation of California's Cartwright Act, California Business 

and Professions Code § § 16720 et seq. has caused, and will cause, damages to 

Retrophin in an amount to be determined at trial, with such damages to be trebled. 

91. Questcor's unlawful conduct is ongoing, irreparably injures Retrophin, 

harms the public interest, and unless restrained will continue. Retrophin has no 

adequate remedy at law. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(UNFAIR COMPETITION UNDER CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE 

§ 17200 ET SEQ.) 

92. Retrophin repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 91 as if fully set forth herein. 

93. California Unfair Competition Law, Business and Professions Code 

Section 17200 et seq., provides that "unfair competition shall mean and include any 

unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act." 

94. Questcor's conduct as alleged herein meets the "unlawfulness" prong of 

California Business and Professions Code § § 17200 et seq. Questcor has committed 

and continues to commit unlawful business practices by illegally acquiring the rights 

to Synacthen and engaging in anti competitive and monopolistic conduct in violation 

of antitrust laws. 
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95. Questcor's conduct as alleged herein also meets the "unfair" prong of 

California Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq. Questcor's 

anti competitive and monopolistic conduct harms the public interest, threatens an 

incipient violation of an antitrust law and/or violates the policy or spirit of those laws 

because its effects are comparable to or the same as a violation of the law, or 

otherwise significantly threatens or harms competition. 

96. Pursuant to California Business and Professions Code § 17203, Retrophin 

seeks the disgorgement of Questcor's profits earned by its unlawful and/or unfair 

business practices to the extent it constitutes restitution to Retrophin. 

97. Pursuant to California Business and Professions Code § 17203, Retrophin 

seeks an order of this court enjoining Questcor from continuing to engage, use, or 

employ the unlawful and/or unfair business practices complained of herein. 

98. Questcor's wrongful conduct has caused and, ifit continues, will 

continue to cause irreparable harm to Retrophin that cannot be fully compensated by 

money and for which Retrophin has no adequate remedy at law. Retrophin is thus 

entitled to permanent injunctive relief preventing Questcor from continuing to engage 

in the conduct alleged in this Complaint. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Retrophin respectfully demands judgment against Questcor: 

A. DECLARING that Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen is an 

unlawful contract, combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade in violation of 

Section 1 of the Sherman Act; 

B. DECLARING that Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen 

constitutes unlawful monopolization of the Relevant Markets in violation of Section 2 

of the Sherman Act; 

C. DECLARING that Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen 

constitutes an unlawful attempt to monopolize the Relevant Markets in violation of 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act; 
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1 D. DECLARING that Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen 

2 constitutes an acquisition that may result in a substantial lessening of competition in 

3 the Relevant Markets in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act; 

4 E. DECLARING that Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen 

5 constitutes an unlawful trust in restraint of trade and commerce in violation of 

6 California Business and Professions Code §§ 16720 et seq.; 

7 F. DECLARING that Questcor's acquisition of the rights to Synacthen 

8 constitutes unfair competition in violation of California Business and Professions 

9 Code § 17200 et seq.; 

10 

11 

12 

G. PERMANENTL Y ENJOINING Questcor from enforcing or maintaining 

its Rights to Synacthen under its agreement with Novartis or any similar formal or 

informal agreement; 

H. PERMANENTLY ENJOINING Questcor from engaging in further 

anticompetitive conduct in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act; 

I. PERMANENTLY ENJOINING Questcor from engaging in further 

16 anti competitive conduct in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act; 

17 J. PERMANENTL Y ENJOINING Questcor from engaging in further 

18 anti competitive conduct in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act; 

19 K. PERMANENTLY ENJOINING Questcor from engaging in further 

20 anti competitive conduct in violation of California Business and Professions Code §§ 

21 16720,etseq.; 

22 L. PERMANENTL Y ENJOINING Questcor from engaging in further 

23 unlawful and/or unfair business practices in violation of California Business and 

24 Professions Code § 17200 et seq.; 

25 M. DISGORGING any profits generated by Questcor as a result of its 

26 unlawful and/or unfair business practices to the extent it constitutes restitution to 

27 Retrophin; 

28 
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